IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE.

Supreme Court No.

S176923

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Court of Appeal

No. G036560

٧.

QUANG MINH TRAN,

Superior Court

No. 01WF0544

Defendant and Appellant./

APPELLANT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

FILED

APR 1 4 2010

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

DEPUTY

MARLEIGH A. KOPAS
Attorney at Law
SBN # 105947
Post Office Box 528
Ponderay, ID 83852
Telephone: (310) 455-3651
Attorney for Appellant
Quang Minh Tran
By Appointment of The
California Supreme Court
under The Appellate
Defenders, Inc. Assisted
Case System

		•
		•
		,
		•
		·
		•

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE,

Supreme Court No.

S176923

Plaintiff and Respondent,

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

By its order dated February 10, 2010, this court has directed that the issue to be briefed and argued shall be limited to the following:

"Did the court abuse its discretion in allowing the prosecution to introduce evidence of defendant's own uncharged criminal acts in order to prove a pattern of criminal activity for purposes of Penal Code section 186.22, subdivisions (a) and (e)?"

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 10, 2003, the Orange County District Attorney charged appellant Quang Minh Tran and Huan Hoang Nguyen ("Nguyen") in an information with one count of murder (former Pen. Code, sec. 187, subd. (a)), one count of willful, deliberate and premeditated attempted murder (former Pen. Code, sec. 664, subd. (a) - 187, subd. (a)), and one count of street terrorism (former Pen. Code, sec. 186.22, subd. (a)). The information alleged that the murder and attempted murder were committed for the benefit of criminal street gangs (former sec. 186.22, subd. (b)(1)), and that appellant and Nguyen personally used a firearm in the commission of those offenses (former sec. 12022.5, subd. (a)). (4 CT 795-797.)

Appellant pleaded not guilty. (4 CT 798.) His jury found him guilty of first-degree murder, premeditated and deliberate attempted murder, and street terrorism as charged. The jury found appellant personally used a firearm in the commission of the murder and attempted murder, and that these crimes were committed for the

All further statutory references are to the Penal Code, with the exception of any reference to "section 352," which is to the Evidence Code.

Because the offenses occurred on May 6, 1997, all references to any "former" statute or subdivision are to the provisions then in effect. (See sec. 187, subd. (a) (amended by Stats.1996, ch. 1023 (Sen. Bill No. 1497), sec. 385, eff. Sept. 29, 1996); sec. 664, subd. (a) (amended by Stats.1994, ch. 793 (Assem. Bill No. 2433), sec. 1); sec. 186.22, subds. (a) & (b) (Stats. 1996, ch. 982 (Assem. Bill No. 2035), sec. 1 [the STEP Act]); sec. 12022.5, subd. (a) (Stats.1995, ch. 377 (Sen. Bill No. 1095), sec. 9).)

Nguyen and appellant were not tried together. (See 4 CT 810.)

benefit of the Viets for Life ("VFL") and V criminal street gangs. (5 CT 977-981, 997-999.)

The court sentenced appellant to 54 years-to-life in prison followed by an indeterminate term of life with the possibility of parole. (5 CT 1085-1088, 1090-1093; 7 RT 1101-1111.) On August 31, 2009, the Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment as modified to provide for the stay of the street terrorism term under section 654. (*People v. Tran* (2009) 99 Cal.Rptr.3d 122, 127 ("Opinion"). On December 2, 2009, this court granted appellant's petition for review. (*People v. Tran* (2009) 102 Cal.Rptr.3d 282.) On February 10, 2010, this court limited the issue to be briefed and argued as specified hereinabove. Appellant now submits the following brief on the merits of the issue specified by this court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The V and the VFL were aligned Vietnamese-American criminal street gangs until approximately May 1997, when they had a falling out. The Oriental Play Boys ("OPB") was a rival Vietnamese-American criminal street gang. (1 RT 72, 78-80, 81; 2 RT 167-170, 172; 4 RT 623, 631-632.)

On May 6, 1997, the leader of the OPB shot at a car containing at least one VFL member. (1 RT 82-84, 90-91; 2 RT 165, 202.) Appellant, a VFL member, contacted Qui Ly, a V member, and obtained guns to do a payback shooting. (2 RT 145-146, 161, 193, 195-196, 199, 203, 218.) V and VFL members held a planning meeting at the home of a V member, and drove in three cars to an

apartment complex where appellant said the OPB leader lived. (2 RT 205-212, 218-219, 223.)

Appellant, another VFL member, and V member Qui Ly each had a gun and wore masks. Hung Meo, the V gang's leader, accompanied them into the apartment complex. The three with guns shot at the OPB leader in the parking lot, with one bullet wounding him. (1 RT 81-82, 137; 2 RT 218-219, 223, 232-233; 3 RT 354.) Appellant and Qui Ly removed their masks when leaving the apartment complex separately from the others. They encountered a young Asian male carrying groceries. Appellant mistakenly identified the teenager as an OPB member. The male ran, and appellant shot him in the back and killed him. (2 RT 235, 244, 248; 3 RT 352-354; 5 RT 710, 714.)

The OPB leader told the police the males in the parking lot looked Hispanic. (2 RT 129.) Two witnesses told the police they saw young Asian males in the area at the time of the shootings. One also said she saw an Asian male with a two-handled gun [matching Qui Ly's description of appellant's gun], and the other witness said she saw three cars drive away from the area. (3 RT 417-418; 5 RT 686-689, 691; Opinion, *supra*, 99 Cal.Rptr.3d at pp. 129-130.) Eight years after these events, an eyewitness to the fatal shooting testified that he saw two males exit the apartment complex's gate and he thought their faces were covered. Both males fired their guns. (6 RT 871-872, 875-876, 887.) The same witness told the police just after the shootings in 1997 that the two males could have been Hispanic, the shooter had a Fu-Manchu mustache, and he saw only one muzzle flash. (6 RT 874,

876, 882-884, 890.) Unlike appellant and Qui Ly, V leader Hung Meo had a Fu-Manchu mustache. (See Exhibit Nos. 17A, 17B & 17C.)

V members Qui Ly and Hanh Dam testified against appellant under use immunity agreements. Hanh Dam testified appellant admitted his involvement in the shootings. (2 RT 145, 277; 4 RT 609-611, 636-637.)

The defense contended appellant was not involved in the shootings, and that there were only three perpetrators -- V members Qui Ly, Hung Meo, and Hanh Dam, or possibly VFL member Uncle Dave [Nguyen]. No eyewitness other than the accomplice Qui Ly placed appellant at the scene, there was no physical evidence linking him to the scene, and V members Qui Ly and Hanh Dam pointed the finger at appellant to protect their gang leader Hung Meo. (7 RT 976-978, 982, 985-986, 991-992; 4 CT 795.)

Predicate Crimes Evidence

Prior to trial, defense counsel objected to the use of any of appellant's prior criminal acts or convictions other than for impeachment purposes. The defense argued that under section 352 appellant's prior conviction for extortion should not be used as a predicate act for the gang charges, because there were numerous available predicate acts not involving appellant. The court overruled the objection. (1 RT 27-28.³)

DEFENSE COUNSEL: "The negotiating area has to do with prior acts of the defendant. If there is an intent absent my client taking the stand of introducing any of his prior criminal acts or convictions. What I am concerned about is an attempt to use his prior conviction that he went to prison as a predicate act. [Par.] There are numerous predicate acts that can be introduced in regard to Footnote continued on next page

At trial, the prosecutor's gang expert provided evidence of predicate acts concerning the VFL and V gangs to support the street terrorism charge and gang enhancement allegations.⁴ Regarding the VFL gang, the gang expert testified that VFL member Noel Jesse Mata ("Mata") was convicted of murder in 1996, and appellant committed extortion in 1994. (Exhibit No. 52 [documentation of appellant's extortion conviction]; 5 RT 759-763, 770; former sec. 186.22, subd. (e).)

Over defense objection that such testimony constituted inadmissible hearsay and was unduly prejudicial under section 352, the gang expert testified that appellant and three other VFL members conducted a series of extortions targeting Vietnamese businesses for protection money in 1993 and 1994. (5 RT 761-762.) The expert testified that "[b]usinesses were shot into[,] other businesses, were verbally threatened, but the businesses were asked for protection money to protect them from any gang activity at their businesses [sic]." (5 RT 762.) The gang expert testified that appellant, his brother

this case that do not involve my client, and I'm asking under [section] 352 that if there is an attempt to use a predicate act of my client that objection be sustained and that another predicate act be introduced.

DISTRICT ATTORNEY: "Your Honor?

THE COURT: "Hang on. What authority do you have for that?

DEFENSE COUNSEL: "352 of the Evidence Code.

THE COURT: "Request is denied." (1 RT 27-28.)

The V gang's predicate acts were burglary, street terrorism, attempted extortion and robbery. (5 RT 775-780.)

and another VFL member were arrested and prosecuted as the result of a sting operation in which a business owner voluntarily paid protection money to appellant. The expert opined appellant at that time was an active VFL member and the extortion benefited the VFL gang. (5 RT 762-763.)

Q. In your opinion, was [appellant] an active gang member of Viet for Life on the day that he committed the crime of extortion on January 7, 1994?

A. It is.

Q. And what is the basis of your opinion?

A. I spoke to the actual detective that investigated the crime. I reviewed the police reports related to the series of extortions. I reviewed F.I's police contact of [appellant] prior to that date. I reviewed his arrest of other VFL gang members prior to that date. But primarily based on that.

Q. Now do you have an opinion whether or not the crime that we discussed of extortion on January 7, 1994 was committed for the benefit of Viet for Life?

A. I do.

Q. And what is that opinion based on?

A. My prior training and experience.

Q. What is your opinion?

A. That it benefitted the gang VFL. (5 RT 762-763.)

At sidebar, the defense objected that the expert's testimony about businesses being shot into was highly inflammatory and prejudicial. Defense counsel noted there was nothing in the documentation to support such factual assertions, and that appellant pled guilty to only one count of extortion. The defense asked the court to strike that portion of the gang expert's testimony and order the jury

to disregard it. The trial court denied the defense request, stating the subject could be covered on cross-examination and then if necessary the defense could renew its request.^{5 6} (5 RT 763-764; Exhibit No. 52.)

Defense counsel argued that Exhibit No. 52 reflected a conviction of someone other than appellant (5 RT 764), apparently because in three of the exhibit's documents appellant's name was misspelled as "Tran Duang M." (Exhibit No. 52.) The trial court advised the prosecutor that "[y]ou only need one case, this case and the predicate. If it's not the right con [sic] withdraw it and throw it away." (5 RT 765.) The prosecutor explained that Exhibit No. 52 contained documentation concerning three defendants, one of which was appellant. (5 RT 765-766.)

DEFENSE COUNSEL: "...I'm objecting in regard to the testimony of [gang expert] Echevarria in regard to shooting into the businesses. [Par.] In looking at the documents, and it's my understanding my client was convicted of extortion. There's nothing in here about any shootings or shooting at individuals or into businesses. [Par.] And I feel that's extremely inflammatory, highly prejudicial and I would ask that that portion of his testimony be stricken and the jury be ordered to disregard that.

THE COURT: "You can cover it on cross examination. The request to strike is denied at this time. You can renew your request if it turns out that it's necessary after cross examination...." (5 RT 763-764.)

Defense counsel did not pursue the subject on crossexamination, most likely to avoid emphasizing to the jury this unduly prejudicial information. (See 6 RT 829-854.)

DEFENSE COUNSEL: "My concern is this officer testified about my client not pleading guilty to a felony count, extortion. He talked about numerous extortions. He talked about shooting into the businesses, and none of that occurs in these documents. These documents show multiple charges of extortion, that is true. However they show there is only a plea of guilty to one of those charges and there's nothing in here to indicate that in fact there was any shooting having to do with this case. I think that's highly inflammatory and very prejudicial to my client.

THE PROSECUTOR: "What's collected in the documents, your Honor –

THE COURT: "Hang on, hang on. A predicate act does not have to be of the defendant it can be of any gang member involved in the same gang [sic]. It doesn't have to be an individual that's even known to your client.

THE PROSECUTOR: "Correct.

THE COURT: "So you've got the benefit of the wrong guy here, and who cares? I mean, they misspelled his name so it must not be him. The bottom line is it's simply a predicate act and you don't do extortion unless there's a credible threat to force someone to turn loose their money. [Par.] This officer said, on checking with Los Angeles that he found a credible threat. Businesses were shot into by somebody, presumably another VFL gang member or perhaps your client with a misspelled name.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: "But I think it's improper.

THE COURT: "But we don't care. All we know is what we have by way of paperwork. We know that a crime was committed, this officer has told us that it was

committed for the benefit of VFL and was done by somebody who was a VFL member, probably your client. So what's your problem? What's your question? What do you want me to do?

DEFENSE COUNSEL: "I want the court to admonish the jury that the evidence that was presented to this jury in regards to my client being involved in shooting up these businesses —

THE COURT: "Nobody said your client was the one that did the shooting. But the inference that your client was involved in extorting money is because of his conviction for that crime that he pled guilty to. Innocent people don't plead guilty.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: "That's not reality and this court knows that.

THE COURT: "Well, I don't know what you're accusing me of but that's offensive and contemptuous." (5 RT 766-768.)

Defense counsel then acknowledged that a person who pleads guilty is guilty under the law. (5 RT 768-769.) The trial court denied appellant's request to admonish the jury, and stated "[t]here need be no further foundation to the reference made of shooting into a business was not specifically made to your client. [sic]" (5 RT 769.)

DEFENSE COUNSEL: "Would the court then admonish the jury that when the officer was talking about shooting in regard to those businesses that it was not in regard to my client?

THE COURT: "He doesn't know that.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: "I know he doesn't know that.

THE COURT: "You can cover it on crossexamination. The court's not going to admonish the jury in any way because of this brou ha ha. You can take care of it on cross." (5 RT 770; see, *ante*, at p. 8, fn. 6.)

The parties subsequently stipulated that appellant was named as the defendant in Exhibit No. 52, he pled guilty to one count of extortion occurring on or about January 7, 1994, and he was convicted of that crime on June 6, 1995. (6 RT 895-896; Exhibit No. 52.)

The trial court instructed the jury that with respect to the street terrorism charge, a "pattern of criminal gang activity' means the commission of, attempted commission of, or conviction of two or more of the following crimes, namely, Murder, Extortion, Robbery, or Burglary...." (4 CT 926-927 [CALJIC No. 6.50].) The same language was used in the instruction on the gang enhancements. (4 CT 955-956 [CALJIC No. 17.24.2].) The court also instructed that evidence of criminal acts by gang members other than the charged crimes could be considered only for the limited purpose of determining the gang-related charge and allegations and not to prove appellant is a person of bad character or has a disposition to commit crimes. (4 CT 957 [CALJIC No. 17.24.3].)

The Appeal

On appeal, appellant argued the trial court prejudicially erred in admitting such evidence over objection pursuant to section 352 because the evidence of his prior extortions was inherently and unduly prejudicial and inflammatory, such evidence constituted prohibited character/propensity evidence, other predicate acts not involving appellant were available to prove a pattern of criminal gang activity, and there was abundant other evidence of appellant's active gang involvement. (See Opinion, *supra*, 99 Cal.Rptr.3d at pp. 126, 131-134; Appellant's Opening Brief, pp. 31-48; Appellant's Reply Brief, pp. 4-17.)

The Court of Appeal ruled the evidence was relevant to prove the substantive charge of street terrorism, and the balancing between probativeness and undue prejudice under section 352 weighed in favor of admissibility. The probativeness of the extortion evidence was overwhelming because it proved a high level of gang activity, appellant's knowledge of the gang's felonious conduct, and his willful promotion of the gang's interests. The Legislature provided in section 186.22 that evidence of other crimes, without numerical limit and without restriction as to the perpetrator, be presented to the factfinder. Further, the trial court instructed appellant's jury not to consider the extortion conviction as evidence of a propensity to commit the charged crimes. (Opinion, *supra*, 99 Cal.Rptr.3d at pp. 126, 131-134.)

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING THE PROSECUTOR TO PROVE A PATTERN OF CRIMINAL STREET GANG ACTIVITY BY INTRODUCING EVIDENCE OF APPELLANT'S OWN UNCHARGED CRIMINAL ACTS

In admitting evidence of appellant's prior criminal acts and extortion conviction to prove a pattern of criminal gang activity, the trial court failed to exercise its discretion in a legally correct manner. The court's ruling fell outside the bounds of reason, impeded the ends of substantial justice, and resulted in a miscarriage of justice. (See *People v. Brown* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 518, 534; *People v. Garcia* (1999) 20 Cal.4th 490, 503; *Bailey v. Taaffe* (1866) 29 Cal. 422, 424; Cal. Const., art. 6, sec. 13; Evid. Code, sec. 353, subd. (b).) This ruling deprived appellant of his constitutional rights to due process of law and a fair trial by an impartial jury. (U.S. Const, 5th, 6th & 14th Amends.; Cal. Const., art. 1, secs. 7, 15 & 24.)

A. The Standard of Review.

A trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence is generally reviewable for abuse of discretion. (*People v. Mungia* (2008) 44 Cal.4th 1101, 1130; *People v. Brown, supra,* 31 Cal.4th at p. 534; *People v. Kipp* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 1100, 1121 [applying abuse of discretion standard to review of trial court's section 352 evidentiary ruling]; *People v. Williams* (2009) 170 Cal.App.4th 587, 606, review den. ("*Williams*"); *People v. Leon* (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 149, 164, review den. ("*Leon*").) Ordinarily, a trial court's exercise of discretion under section 352 will not be disturbed on appeal unless the

court clearly abused its discretion, e.g., when the prejudicial effect of the evidence clearly outweighs its probative value. (*People v. Karis* (1988) 46 Cal.3d 612, 637; sec. 352.⁷)

Although deferential, the standard is not empty because "it asks in substance whether the ruling in question 'falls outside the bounds of reason' under the applicable law and the relevant facts..." (People v. Garcia, supra, 20 Cal.4th at p. 503, emphasis in original.) "The scope of discretion always resides in the particular law being applied...." (People v. Jacobs (2007) 156 Cal. App. 4th 728, 737.) Further, abuse of discretion is not limited to whimsical, arbitrary, irrational or capricious rulings, but includes rulings not in conformity with the spirit of the law that impede or defeat the ends of justice. (Id. at pp. 736-737, 740-741; see City of Sacramento v. Drew (1989) 207 Cal.App.3d 1287, 1297-1298 [ruling need not be "utterly irrational" to constitute abuse of discretion and Department of Parks & Recreation v. State Personnel Bd. (1991) 233 Cal.App.3d 813, 831, fn. 3 ["Although an act exceeding the bounds of reason manifestly constitutes an abuse of discretion, abuse is not limited to such an extreme case"]; Cal. Const., art. 6, sec. 13.)

Section 352 provides: "The court in its discretion may exclude evidence if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the probability that its admission will (a) necessitate undue consumption of time or (b) create substantial danger of undue prejudice, of confusing the issues, or of misleading the jury."

B. The Use of Appellant's Prior Extortion Activity and Conviction was Unnecessary to Establish A Pattern of Criminal Gang Activity, and The Evidence Constituted Prohibited Character/Propensity Evidence.

1. The Opinion.

The appellate court briefly acknowledged that courts "have long held antipathy for 'other crimes evidence' in criminal prosecutions" (Opinion, supra, 99 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 131, citing People v. Thompson (1980) 27 Cal. 3d 303, 314 ("Thompson"), superseded by statute on other grounds as stated in *Clark v. Brown* (9th Cir. 2006) 442 F.3d 708, 714, fn. 2), and that a trial court may be found to have abused its discretion under section 352 when it fails to exclude certain evidence. (Opinion, supra, 99 Cal.Rptr.3d at pp. 131-132.) The Court of Appeal found that evidence of appellant's prior extortion conviction was not admitted to prove his propensity to commit crimes, and was highly relevant to proving street terrorism and a pattern of criminal gang activity. (Id. at pp. 131, 134.) According to the Opinion, section 352 interacts with section 186.22 and must be construed consistently with it, and section 352 is a more general statute than the specific section 186.22.8 Thus when calculating probativeness and

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