SUPREME COURT COPY

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

V.

QUANG MINH TRAN,

Defendant and Appellant.

CRC 8.25(b)

SUPREME COURT FILFD

Case No. S176923

JUN 1 5 2010

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. G036560
Orange County Superior Court, Case No. 01WF0544
The Honorable Robert R. Fitzgerald, Judge

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

Nonetheless, appellant contends the evidence was too inflammatory to be admitted. Relying on *People v. Albarran, supra*, 149 Cal.App.4th 214, appellant contends the evidence was inadmissible because it created a risk that the jury would improperly infer that he has a criminal disposition or bad character and thus create an impermissible inference that he committed the charged crimes. (*Id.* at p. 223; see ABOM 24-25.) Appellant's reliance

is misplaced. In *Albarran*, the trial court granted a motion for new trial as to the gang enhancements, finding sufficient evidence did not support the true findings. (*Ibid.*) The defendant then filed a motion for new trial as to the substantive charges, alleging prejudice stemming from the admission of the gang evidence. The trial court determined that the gang evidence was relevant to the issues of motive and intent in committing the underlying crimes, and denied the motion. (*Ibid.*)

The Court of Appeal reversed the judgment and remanded the matter for a new trial on the underlying offenses, finding the prosecution had failed to present sufficient evidence that the crimes were gang motivated. (People v. Albarran, supra, 149 Cal.App.4th at pp. 217, 232.) Thus, as appellant notes, the issue in *Albarran* was not whether the gang evidence was admissible to prove a gang enhancement or a substantive gang charge, but whether the gang evidence should be admitted to show intent and motive as to the underlying charges. (*People v. Albarran, supra*, at p. 217; see ABOM 24, fn. 11.) Unlike in Albarran, there was no question in this case that appellant's crimes were gang-related. And appellant's prior conviction was necessary to prove the street terrorism offense and the gang enhancement allegation, and was limited to that purpose. As the Court of Appeal pointed out, citing *People v. Hernandez, supra*, 33 Cal.4th at page 1044, when the prosecution charges a gang enhancement, it will often present evidence that would be inadmissible in a trial limited to the charged offense. (Slip Opn. at 14.)

Appellant cites two appellate cases to support the contention that the use of his own crimes to show a pattern of criminal activity was an abuse of discretion. (ABOM 20-24.) In *People v. Leon* (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 149, the Court of Appeal found that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the defendant's prior juvenile adjudication to prove the defendant was an active participant in a criminal street gang and to prove gang

enhancement allegations. In *Leon*, the defendant was convicted of burglary, attempting to dissuade a witness from reporting a crime, possessing a concealed firearm in a vehicle while being an active participant in a criminal street gang, and carrying a loaded firearm while being an active participant in a criminal street gang. (*People v. Leon, supra*, 161 Cal.App.4th at p. 152.) At trial, the court permitted the prosecution to introduce evidence of the defendant's juvenile adjudication for robbery to establish the predicate offenses necessary for a section 186.22, subdivision (b)(1) gang enhancement. (*Id.* at pp. 164-165.)

On appeal, the *Leon* court held that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting evidence of the defendant's prior juvenile adjudication to establish that the defendant was a gang member and that the group in question was a criminal gang. The court noted that the robbery convictions of two other gang members were sufficient to establish the predicate offenses, and the other evidence of the defendant's gang membership was overwhelming. (*People v. Leon, supra*, 161 Cal.App.4th at p. 169.) The Court of Appeal held "the evidence of [the defendant's] robbery adjudication was 'merely cumulative regarding an issue that was not reasonably subject to dispute." (*Ibid.*, citing *People v. Ewoldt, supra*, 7 Cal.4th at pp. 405-406.) The Court of Appeal went on to find the error harmless under *People v. Watson* (1956) 46 Cal.2d 816, 836. (*Id.* at pp. 169-170.)

In *People v. William, supra*, 170 Cal.App.4th 587, police executed a search warrant on a house and found two guns, drug paraphernalia, and ammunition. Seven gang members were present at the time, including the defendant. (*Id.* at pp. 596-597.) The defendant was convicted of gun and drug charges with gang enhancements and participation in a criminal street gang. (*Id.* at p. 595.) On appeal, the court found that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting evidence of "at least eight crimes committed by

[gang] members," as well as evidence of dozens of police contacts with the gang. (*People v. Williams, supra*, 170 Cal.App.4th at pp. 600-602, 609.) The court found the evidence cumulative because it "concern[ed] issues not reasonably subject to dispute." (*Id.* at p. 611.) It found introduction of the cumulative gang evidence harmless. (*Id.* at pp. 612-613.)

Respondent submits that to the extent *Leon* and *Williams* suggest that the trial court must exclude evidence of a defendant's prior offenses whenever the prosecution has other predicate crimes available to show the required "two or more" predicate offenses needed to establish the existence of a criminal street gang under section 186.22, subdivision (e), or that appellant was an active participant of a criminal street gang under subdivision (a), those cases were wrongly decided. First, neither opinion addressed the fact that as part of proving that the defendant was an active gang participant, the prosecution was required to prove that the defendant knew of the gang's pattern of criminal activity. "Evidence that is identical in subject matter to other evidence should not be excluded as 'cumulative' when it has greater evidentiary weight or probative value." (People v. Mattson (1990) 50 Cal.3d 826, 871.) Appellant's conviction for extortion had more weight and probative value to show his knowledge of VFL's pattern of criminal gang activity, than did predicate crimes committed by other gang members. Thus, the trial court was not required to exclude this evidence as merely cumulative to the other predicate crimes evidence.

Appellant contends that the evidence in this case was cumulative, as was found in *Leon* and *Williams* because, based on the other gang evidence presented, the issue of appellant's criminal gang activity was not reasonably subject to dispute and his prior extortion activity should have been excluded as unnecessary. (See AOB 36, citing *People v. Thompson*, *supra*, 27 Cal.3d at p. 318, *People v. Ewoldt, supra*, 7 Cal.4th at pp. 405-406.) In a criminal trial, the prosecution has the burden of proving each

element of an offense beyond a reasonable doubt. (*In re Winship* (1970) 397 U.S. 358, 361-363 [90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368].) "[T]he prosecutor's burden to prove every element of the crime is not relieved by a defendant's tactical decision not to contest an essential element of the offense." (*Estelle v. McGuire* (1991) 502 U.S. 62, 69 [112 S.Ct. 475, 116 L.Ed.2d 385].) Appellant's plea of not guilty placed all elements of the charged offenses and allegations at issue. (*People v. Steele, supra*, 27 Cal.4th at p. 1243; *People v. Carpenter* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 312, 379; see Penal Code, § 1019.) Even if other evidence was presented to establish the pattern of criminal gang activity, the prosecution was still entitled to prove its case, and the facts required to show appellant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. (*People v. Steele, supra*, 27 Cal.4th at p. 1243.)

In *People v. Rowland*, *supra*, 4 Cal.4th at page 260, this Court determined that evidence of other crimes was relevant for purposes of Evidence Code section 210 if it concerns a disputed fact and that a fact "generally becomes 'disputed' when it is raised by a plea of not guilty or a denial of an allegation. [Citation.] Such a fact remains 'disputed' until it is resolved." (*Ibid.*) VFL's pattern of criminal activity and appellant's knowledge of VFL's criminal activity were disputed, thus appellant's extortion conviction was relevant to show his knowledge of VFL's pattern of criminal activity, and to prove the predicate offenses required under section 186.22(e).

Moreover, the plain language of the statute says that proof of the pattern of criminal gang activity is not limited to only two predicate offenses. As the Court of Appeal pointed out, section 186.22, subdivision (e), explicitly requires the prosecution to prove "two or more of the following offenses." (Slip. Opn. at 13-14.) "Not only does the phrase actually obligate the prosecution to put on evidence of at least two other crimes, but it clearly implies that the prosecution has the discretion to put

on evidence of 'more' than two other crimes. And the choice of words indicates that it does not mean, 'and no more than three.' If the Legislature wanted to say, 'at least two but no more than three,' it could have easily said so. The 'or more' clause of the statute implies that if the prosecution decides, for example, that evidence of four other crimes is appropriate, then it may put on that evidence. Put another way, our Legislature has taken street gangsterism so seriously that it has built into the statute, in the engineering sense of the word, a certain amount of redundancy." (Slip Opn. at 14.)

To prove that a defendant is an active participant in a criminal street gang, the prosecution must prove beyond a reasonable doubt both a defendant's knowledge of the gang's pattern of criminal activity, and the existence of two or more predicate crimes to establish that pattern of criminal gang activity. Thus, the fact that the defendant himself was convicted of one of the predicate crimes is not "merely cumulative" whenever the prosecution happens to have two other predicate crimes, not involving the defendant, available.

Because the evidence of appellant's prior conviction had substantial probative value, and was not more prejudicial than probative, the trial court properly exercised its discretion under Evidence Code section 352 in allowing the prosecution to introduce evidence of appellant's conviction for the purpose of proving that VFL was a criminal street gang and that appellant had knowledge of VFL's pattern of criminal activity.

II. ANY ERROR WAS HARMLESS

Even assuming the court erred in admitting the evidence, it is not reasonably probable the jury would have reached a result more favorable to appellant had the evidence been excluded. "The erroneous admission of evidence under Evidence Code section 352 does not warrant reversal unless it is reasonably probable that a more favorable result would have occurred

had the evidence been excluded. [Citations.] (*People v. Davis* (2009) 46 Cal.4th 539, 603; see also *People v. Avitia, supra*, 127 Cal.App.4th at pp 185, 194 [applying standard set forth in *People v. Watson, supra*, 46 Cal.2d at page 836, to find harmless any error in admitting evidence of prior crimes].)

The evidence of guilt in this case was quite strong. Ly's testimony was corroborated by appellant's admission to Dam, the testimony of the percipient witnesses, Vuong's testimony, and the ballistics evidence. The jury was instructed not to consider uncharged gang crimes as propensity evidence. (7 RT 1062-1063.) The jury is presumed to have abided by the court's instructions. (*People v. Sanchez* (1995) 12 Cal.4th 1, 82.) Finally, neither party referenced appellant's prior extortion during closing argument. Moreover, even if inadmissible to show a pattern of criminal gang activity under Penal Code section 186.22, subdivisions (a) and (e), the gang expert properly relied on the extortion conviction to show that extortion was one of the primary activities of the gang, and to support his opinion that appellant was an active member of VFL. Under these circumstances, any error was harmless under the *Watson* standard.

Appellant, however, argues that he was prejudiced by the trial court's ruling because this was a close case and the erroneous admission of the extortion evidence tipped the balance in the prosecution's favor, relying on the jury's readback requests and the length of deliberations. (ABOM 45-47.) But neither establishes that this was a close case.

The jury deliberated for about eight and a half hours over the course of four days. (4 CT 875, 877, 879-880, 997.) During that time the jurors requested and received a read back of Ly's testimony regarding "when the suspects exited vehicles on Yockey to the time the suspects left Yockey," Dam's testimony regarding what appellant and Uncle Dave told him about the crimes, and the redirect and recross of Ly. (4 CT 876, 878-879.)

"[T]he length of a jury's deliberation is related to the amount of information presented at trial[.]" (People v. Houston (2005) 130 Cal.App.4th 279, 301.) Here, the trial, including closing argument and instructions, lasted seven court days. The jury heard the testimony of 17 witnesses during this time. (4 CT 844-858, 862-872, 874-875.) The jury's deliberation of this vast information for about eight and a half hours over the course of four days reflects its diligence. The jury's requests for the reading back of selected testimony "does not necessarily indicate that this was a 'close' case as appellant argues; in fact, the jury's time spent reviewing that testimony reduced their time spent actually deliberating." (People v. Houston, supra, 130 Cal.App.4th at p. 301.) To conclude that this was a close case "in the absence of more concrete evidence would amount to sheer speculation" as "the length of the deliberations could as easily be reconciled with the jury's conscientious performance of its civic duty, rather than its difficulty in reaching a decision[.]" (People v. Walker (1995) 31 Cal. App. 4th 432, 439 [rejecting claim that case was closely balanced simply because the presentation of evidence took roughly two hours and deliberations lasted six and one half hours]; see also *People v*. Houston, supra, 130 Cal.App.4th at 301 [rejecting argument case was close where jury deliberated for unspecified number of hours over a four-day period and asked for readbacks of selected testimony where record indicated "that there were extensive trial proceedings involving over three dozen witnesses occurring on 10 different days spread over three weeks, as well as lengthy closing arguments and jury instructions spread over two additional days"].)

Appellant's claim that the trial court's admission of the gang evidence violated his right to due process and a fair trial is meritless. (AOB 43-49.) The application of the ordinary rules of evidence generally does not impermissibly infringe upon a defendant's constitutional rights. (*People v.*

Prince (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1179, 1229.) If a trial court commits an error which renders a defendant's trial arbitrary and fundamentally unfair, it has violated the defendant's federal due process rights. (Estelle v. McGuire, supra, 502 at p. 62, 70; Jammal v. Van de Kamp (9th Cir. 1991) 926 F.2d 918, 920; see Chapman v. California (1967) 386 U.S. 18, 24 [87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705] [determination of prejudice where a federal right is implicated].) A trial court's admission of evidence constitutes such a due process violation only if there are no permissible inferences the jury may draw from the admitted evidence. (People v. Steele, supra, 27 Cal.4th at p. 1246; People v. Albarran, supra, 149 Cal.App.4th at p. 229.) Here, the permissible inference for the jurors to draw from the gang evidence was that VFL members had committed at least two predicate crimes, and that appellant had knowledge of VFL's pattern of criminal gang activity. Even under the stringent Chapman standard, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Based on the foregoing, it is evident that the trial court's admission of the gang evidence did not render appellant's trial so fundamentally unfair as to constitute a due process violation.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, respondent respectfully requests that this Court affirm the judgment below.